The diagnosis of plant pathogenic bacteria: a state of art

Valeria Scala¹, Nicoletta Pucci¹, Stefania Loreti¹

¹Consiglio per la Ricerca in Agricoltura e l'Analisi dell'Economia Agraria, Centro di Ricerca Difesa e Certificazione, Via C.G, Bertero, 22, 00156 Rome, Italy

TABLE OF CONTENTS

- 1. Abstract
- 2. Introduction
- 3. Plant protection and management
- 4. Bacterial pathogen detection and identification
 - 4.1. Serological methods
 - 4.2. Molecular methods
 - 4.2.1. Which target for molecular detection?
 - 4.3. Image spectroscopy techniques
 - 4.4. Electronic nose and volatile organic compounds
 - 4.5. Point of care
 - 4.6. Biosensors
- 5. Summary and perspective
- 6. References

1. ABSTRACT

Plant protection plays an important role in agriculture for the food quality and quantity. The diagnosis of plant diseases and the identification of the pathogens are essential prerequisites for their understanding and control. Among the plant pests, the bacterial pathogens have devastating effects on plant productivity and yield. Different techniques (microscopy, serology, biochemical, physiological, molecular tools and culture propagation) are currently used to detect and identify bacterial pathogens. Detection and identification are critical steps for the appropriate application of phytosanitary measures. The "harmonization of phytosanitary regulations and all other areas of official plant protection action" mean the good practices for plant protection and plant material certification. The prevention of diseases progression and spread by early detection are a valuable strategy for proper pest management and disease control. For this purpose, innovative methods aim achieving results within a shorter time and higher performance, to provide rapidly, accurately and reliably diagnosis. In this review, we focus on the techniques for plant bacterial diagnosis and on the regulations for harmonizing plant protection issue.

2. INTRODUCTION

Plant protection against plant disease played an obvious role in the food quality and production (1). Food losses due to pathogens crop infection (such as bacteria, viruses and fungi) were persistent issues in agriculture. The damages caused by pathogens, animals and weeds are responsible for losses between 20-40% of global agriculture productivity (2). Essential prerequisites for understanding and controlling plant diseases were the detection and identification of the causal agents. Systems for early detection of pests might prevent diseases spread and food losses.

At present, the whole budget invested to crop production limited the routinely use of pathogen's detection methods, except in special cases, e.g. certification and plant quarantine (3). Fang and Ramasamy (4) proposed the use of advanced disease detection methods to minimize and prevent the crop disease damages during growth, harvest and postharvest processing, as well as to maximize productivity and ensure agricultural sustainability.

Among the plant pests, we focused on phytopathogenic bacteria and related diagnostic techniques. These type of pathogens cause devastating effects on plant productivity and yield. Mansfield and colleagues (5) described the bacterial plant pathogens 'Top 10' list based on scientific/economic importance. The survey allowed the construction of a list that includes, in rank order: *Pseudomonas syringae* pathovars; *Ralstonia solanacearum*; *Agrobacterium tumefaciens*; *Xanthomonas oryzae* pv. *oryzae*; *Xanthomonas campestris* pathovars; *Xanthomonas*

axonopodis pathovars; Erwinia amylovora; Xylella fastidiosa; Dickeya (dadantii and solani); Pectobacterium carotovorum (and Pectobacterium atrosepticum). This list is partial since did not consider other important pathogens as Clavibacter michiganensis (michiganensis and sepedonicus) and Pseudomonas savastanoi (5).

Phytopathogenic bacteria might survive in diverse environments: in plants as pathogens and outside their hosts as saprophytes and epiphytes. Adverse environmental conditions might reduce bacterial survival and compromise disease initiation and dissemination. On the contrary, the infection cycle might occur when the condition become favorable. Rainfall, contaminated farming equipment and/or plant material and insects promoted the dissemination of phytobacteria. Disease symptoms caused by bacteria include leaf spots, blights, wilts, scabs, cankers, tumors and soft rots of roots, storage organs and fruit and overgrowth.

Some disease caused by bacteria recently raised public awareness such as in Italy where *Xylella fastidiosa*, a gamma-bacterium, caused an "inestimable negative impact on the economic, social, environmental, cultural and historical importance of the olive trees" (© FAO, 2017 I7075EN/1/04.1.7).

3. PLANT PROTECTION AND MANAGEMENT

The protection of natural and managed plant systems from alien and emerging indigenous pests is a strategic socio-economic issue (6). Globalization. climate change and landscape modification facilitated the dissemination and introduction of alien pests, the evolution of new races, biotypes and strains of indigenous pests; this dramatic change of scenario causes emerging diseases everywhere. Plant productivity, sustainability and biodiversity is compromised by pathogens (7). The cooperation in plant health have been established within the International Plant Protection Convention (IPPC, https://www.ippc.int/); in particular, the European and Mediterranean Plant Protection Organization (EPPO) is an intergovernmental organization responsible for cooperation and harmonization in plant protection within the European and Mediterranean region, under the International Plant Protection Convention (IPPC). The EPPO missions, as reported in the EPPO website aim at i) "developing an international strategy against the introduction and spread of pests that damage cultivated and wild plants"; ii) "harmonizing of phytosanitary regulations and all other areas of official plant protection action"; iii) "promoting the use of modern, safe, and effective pest control methods"; iv) "providing a documentation service on plant protection".

The harmonization of phytosanitary regulations and all other areas of official plant protection action meant the good practices for plant protection

and plant material certification based on the application of diagnostic methods validated by test performance studies and proficiency tests. The application of appropriate validated guidelines produced universally acceptable results useful for phytosanitary action and regulatory decisions (8). International Organization for Standardization (ISO) standardized reference methods at the international level and by the European Committee for Standardization at the European level (9). The standardization process established reference documents in agreement with all parties and countries. As a result of the work undertaken by the panels of experts, nominated by their National Plant Protection Organizations (NPPO) under the supervision of the working parties, EPPO makes recommendations to the NPPO of its member countries. In order to ensure international acceptance, the draft standards went through a complex approval procedure during which all member countries had the opportunity to express their opinion. Final decisions are obtained by consensus and the EPPO council officially adopted EPPO Standards. EPPO Standards have been developed within the two main fields of EPPO activity: plant protection products and phytosanitary measures. The EPPO standard provide the diagnostic protocols, the pathogen identity, the disease symptoms, the sampling procedures, the bacterial extraction procedure, the screening and identification tests. For each test, the performance criteria are reported. A protocol is considered validated when the analytical sensitivity, analytical specificity, repeatability and reproducibility are reported (EPPO Standard PM 7/98 (2)).

A European and International Standard, ISO 16140, has been developed to provide a common reference protocol for validating alternative methods and determining the principles for their certification (9). The ISO 16140:2003 recently revised, defined the general principle and the technical protocol for the validation of alternative methods in the field of microbiological analysis which can be used in the framework of the official control.

For diagnostic laboratories in the "EPPO regions", the quality management systems and accreditation has become a concern. The Standard Pest Management (PM) 7/84 "Basic requirements for quality management in plant pest diagnosis laboratories", adopted in 2007, described the requirements to assist laboratories conducting plant pest diagnosis and in designing their quality management system. PM 7/98 (2) included additional requirements for laboratories applying for accreditation, based on the ISO/IEC Standard 17025 "General requirements for the competence of testing and calibration laboratories" (ISO/IEC, 2005). National accreditation bodies granted accreditation against the ISO/IEC Standard 17025. Accreditation is part of an overall system and provides an authoritative statement of the technical competence that ensure conformity with the applicable requirements.

4. BACTERIAL PATHOGEN DETECTION AND IDENTIFICATION

Plant symptoms observation, the first step in pest management, is carried out using optical methods (10). Detection and/or identification of pests actually represent critical steps for the appropriate application of phytosanitary measures as illustrated in a range of international documents (11). International Standards for Phytosanitary Measures (ISPM) No. 27 described the procedures and the methods for the official diagnosis of regulated pests and provided the minimum requirements for reliable diagnosis.

The protocols for official diagnosis foresee a first step of detection of the causal agent in the plant host and a second step for its identification. Therefore, a diagnostic method can be used as screening test for the detection of the bacterium in the plant matrix and/or as identification test for the characterization of the purified bacterial culture. The screening test evaluates the presence or absence of the pathogen directly in the plant matrices; it can be performed with different techniques. These assays were particularly useful when a rapid throughput diagnosis is required, as the case of big lots of seeds/plant propagation material, waiting for a quarantine diagnosis, object of commercial trade blocked at airport or port. In case of negative screening test result, the material might be promptly moved, conversely, a positive result required the isolation procedures and identification test on pure culture for result confirmation.

Several techniques based on different principles involving microscopy, serology, biochemical, physiological, nutritional, molecular tools and culture propagation are currently used as diagnostic tools.

Serology provided indirect evidence of bacterial diseases, whereas the use of broad-range polymerase chain reaction (PCR) based techniques, allowed specific detection and identification of bacteria. Indeed, isolation and culture propagation remained the "golden" method and were still crucial steps for an accurate diagnosis.

Isolation provides several irreplaceable advantages for studying emerging bacterial diseases, since allows complementing the pathogenicity assay but also developing antigenic studies, antibiotic or alternative compounds tests, susceptibility, experimental models, genetic investigations and taxonomic studies. In bacterial diagnosis, the pathogenicity tests and bioassays are necessary for a final confirmation, in particular in case of new syndromes or for the diagnosis of quarantine bacteria. Moreover, isolation permitted the constitution of culture collections for the maintenance of bacterial strains.

The isolation of bacterial plant pathogens occurred by using:

- selective media in order to stop or delay the growth of non-targeted saprophyte or contaminant bacteria, (e.g. SMSAfor Ralstonia solanacearum, KBC for Pseudomonas syringae pv. actinidiae)
- media added with particular substrates that can be degraded only by the targeted bacteria (e.g. crystal violet pectate-CVP for Pectobaterium carotovorum, BS for Xanthomonas arboricola pv juglandis)

media that confers a particular color to the growing colonies (e.g. EMB agar medium for Brenneria nigrifluens).

The bacterial identification phase includes at least two tests based on different biological principles (e.g. combination of biochemical, serological and/or molecular test) or two molecular tests based on different DNA sequence targets in the genome of the pathogen. Indeed, the final identification of a suspected plant bacterial pathogen generally requires a pathogenicity test by properly inoculating their host plant. The hypersensitivity response test (HR) on tobacco is useful for some pathogens i.e phytopathogenic *Pseudomonas* and *Erwinia amylovora*, but for others bacterial species provided little or no response, i.e *Pantoea stewartii* or several *Xanthomonas* spp.

Nevertheless, conventional detection methods have several drawbacks (3) such as:

- the bacterial culturing might often take days or weeks and this is critical when rapid and high throughput detection is required;
- it may be difficult to discriminate a bacterial species on the basis of the sole morphological features overall if it is necessary to discriminate among closely related organisms (low specificity);

these methods did not permitted to detect the pathogen if present in a low load in the plant material (low sensitivity).

Different papers (12-14) dealt with the positive and negative aspects of the diagnostic techniques as well as the considerable advantages that the immunological and nucleic acid techniques offered over conventional diagnostic methods.

4.1. Serological methods

The serology-based methods for bacteria detection are analytical tools used for a wide range of targets and provide indirect evidence for causal relationships

between the disease and the causal agent. Serology is helpful, timely and cost-effective for the large-scale analyses of symptomatic materials. The enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) is a test combining the specificity of antibodies and color change to identify a target. Antibodies may recognize specific antigens associated with a given plant pathogen (3, 10); polyclonal antibodies, successfully used for detecting the pathogen, are not always sufficiently specific whereas monoclonal antibodies are more specific, but even more expensive. There are a number of different ways for detecting antibody/antigen binding; often these involve coupling the antibody to an enzyme that can be used to generate a color change when a substrate is added. The ELISA test may be grouped in:

- the direct ELISA detection assays in which assay the specific antibody is conjugated to the enzyme;
- the indirect ELISA assay in which the specific antibody is detected by a second generic antibody, e.g. anti-rabbit or anti-mouse, which is conjugated to the enzyme (indirect detection) (15, 16);
- 3. the sandwich ELISA assay quantify antigens employing two layers of antibodies (i.e. capture and detection antibody). The schematic procedure of the sandwich ELISA can be resumed: a) a specific antibody coats the microtiter plate and trap the target antigen from the tested sample; b) the detecting antibody is added and binds the antigen; c) the enzymelinked secondary antibody is added and binds to detecting antibody; d) the substrate is added and is converted by enzyme to detectable form;
- 4. The ELISA competition assays in which the higher sample antigen concentration corresponds a weaker the detection signal.

Many different commercial kits used for the preliminary screening of plant material for bacterial detection are based on indirect ELISA.

Another serological method widely used in bacteriology as screening and identification test is the indirect immunofluorescence (IF). IF is a fluorescence microscopy-based optical technique utilized to detect pathogen infections in plant tissues. For this technique, plant samples (thin tissue sections or extract) are fixed to microscope slides. Detection is achieved by conjugating a fluorescent dye to the specific antibody to visualize the distribution of the antigen (bacterial cell) throughout the sample (3).

IF is more accurate than ELISA because the interpretation of the result is based not only on the

fluorescence emission (that can be aspecific), as for ELISA, but also allow the discrimination of bacterial cells by fluorescent microscopy directly into the plant tissue sample.

4.2. Molecular methods

The molecular tests can be based on hybridization or amplification techniques and can be highly specific. Most assays developed for bacteria pathogen detect DNA, which is easier to prepare, and more stable than RNA.

The hybridization techniques exploited probes as single stranded DNA or RNA molecules labeled with reporter molecules such as a radioactive isotope, an enzyme or a fluorescent dye (3). The probes recognize the complementary DNA/RNA sequences on the target samples and the signals might then be detected. Depending on the type of reporter molecules, the detection step might use radioactivity or light (chemluminescence). Probes can be generated from double stranded genomic, cloned or PCR-derived DNA.

Among the hybridization techniques, a modern evolution is represented by DNA microarray. It consisted of an array of thousands microscopic spots of specific DNA oligonucleotides (probes or reporters) on a solid substrate (usually a glass slide or silicon thinfilm cell). The probes hybridize a DNA or cDNA samples (target) under high-stringency conditions. The probetarget hybridization is usually determined by detection of fluorophore-, silver-, or chemiluminescence-labeled targets to assess relative abundance of nucleic acid sequences in the target sample. Considering the high number of spotted probes, a microarray can accomplish many genetic tests in parallel. Pelludat and collaborators (17) developed a DNA microarray for a rapid detection of quarantine phytopathogenic bacteria. Another hybridization technique used for detection of plant pathogenic bacteria is the Fluorescent In situ Hybridization (FISH). This technique used 16S or 23S rDNA oligonucleotide probes labelled with a fluorescent dye in combination with microscopy. FISH probes (20-30mers) recognize the plant extracts/cells fixed in microscopic slide and hybridize with target gene in plant samples. The probe-target hybridization can be visualized by incident light (fluorescent). FISH have been used with probes targeted for the 23S rDNA to detect Ralstonia solanacearum from potato peels (18).

In recent years, molecular diagnostic assays used PCR that is more sensible, simple and fast compared to hybridization techniques. However, use of probes integrated within PCR based techniques producing more sensitive, more specific or simpler diagnostic protocols compared to PCR alone.

Among the amplification tests, different PCR-based methods are developed for detecting bacterial nucleic acid: end-point PCR (among which BIO-PCR, nested-PCR and duplex/multiplex-PCR), real-time PCR, LAMP (Loop mediated isothermal amplification) and digital-PCR. The DNA extraction method and the choice of the nucleic acid target are critical steps to be considered when a PCR based diagnostic technique is performed. The availability of commercial kit helps in the standardization of DNA extraction, ensuring the reliability and the quality of DNA from different plant species and matrices.

The end-point based PCR technique detect the presence of the amplified sequence by gel electrophoresis to discriminate positive or negative samples. Different end-point PCR methods are developed for the detection of plant pathogenic bacteria (19, 20).

It is worth mentioning that, for the PCR based method the combination with enrichment of bacterial cells in liquid or solid media may facilitate the detection from difficult matrices as seeds, soil samples or symptomless plant material and reduce the PCR inhibitors detection (19, 21). These PCR based methods usually named BIO-PCR have the advantage, compared to conventional PCR, to detect the presence of viable bacterial cells. Indeed one of the most relevant negative aspect of PCR is the inability to discriminate between viable and non-viable bacterial cells, because DNA is almost stable whether the cell is dead or alive. Ito and collegue (21) developed a PCR method to detect viable cell of Ralstonia solanacearum in soil using a semi-selective medium and PCR technique. Some workers have opted to start from RNA to proceed with a reverse transcriptase PCR (RT-PCR) assay or with an isothermic amplification technique, Nucleic Acid Sequence Based Amplification (NASBA) (22, 23). Up today, validated diagnostic protocol based on RNA to screening bacterial plant, pathogens are not yet available.

Another widely used PCR-based method is the nested-PCR that involves two sets of primers, used in two successive runs of PCR, the second set intended to amplify a secondary target within the first run product. This method is developed for the detection of plant pathogen bacteria as *Erwinia amylovora* (24) or *P. syringae* pv. *actinidiae* (25). It is useful for very rare templates, because is quite sensitive, however the risk of false positive results is high.

An advantage of PCR-based method is the possibility to detect simultaneously seeveral targets by, for instance, duplex or multiplex-PCR. The duplex/multiplex conventional PCR uses several primers in the same reaction and the products of different targets need to be of different sizes to ensure that they can

be distinguished from one another using an agarose gel (26). Different DNA regions can be targeted to distinguish strictly related pathovars or subspecies. An example is the duplex-PCR developed to distinguish *P. syringae* pv. actinidiae from the phylogenetic-related pathovars *P. avellanae*, *P. syringae* pv. theae and pv. tomato (27) and from the kiwifruit-pathogen *P. syringae* pv. actinidifoliorum. Moreover, a multiplex-PCR has been developed to distinguish several subgroups within a bacterial population, as the case of the different *P. syringae* pv. actinidiae groups that are differentiated on the basis of their geographic origin (28).

The real-time PCR exploits the fluorescent emission of a specific dye to detect the targeted amplicons; it is possible to follow the amplification steps in real time, eliminating post-amplification timeconsuming procedure. The fluorescence intensity is proportional to the amount of amplified products and for each sample the 'cycle threshold' (Ct) is calculated. The 'cycle threshold' (Ct) is the cycle number at which a statistically significant increase in fluorescence is detected. The Ct increases with decreasing amounts of target DNA. The real-time PCR used non-specific DNA binding dyes or fluorescent probes specific for the target DNA. The DNA binding dyes, such as SYBR green, represents a simpler and cheaper approach than using specific probes, e.g. TagMan oligonucleotide probes (29); conversely, the SYBR green method may provide non-specific PCR products.

It is worth mentioning that, the specific probes have the advantage of reducing non-specific signals. Different papers demonstrated that nucleic acid-based methods are very sensitive and highly specific for the screening and the identification of different bacterial pathogens such as *Xylella fastidiosa, Pseudomonas syringae* pv. *actinidiae* or *Pantoea stewartii* (30-33).

Another advantage of real-time PCR is represented by the possibility to quantify the target microorganism (32, 33). The multiplex Real-Time PCR can also detect simultaneously more pathogen using probes with different fluorescent reporter dyes (34). Strayer and colleagues (34) improved a multiplex real-time PCR to detect and identify the bacterial spot pathogens *Xanthomonas vesicatoria*, *X. perforans*, *X. gardneri* and *X. euvesicatoria* employing the region of *hrpB* as target. The fragment amplified with the Taq Man real-time PCR revealed a highly conserved region within each species, with a single-nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) among the *X. vesicatoria* strains. *X. euvesicatoria* and *X. perforans*.

LAMP (loop-mediated isothermal amplification) is an isothermal amplification, highly specific, because it used about six specific primers, exploited the use of a fluorescent dye and it can be used in field when it is necessary to perform the

analysis at large-scale of a contaminated area (35). The procedure indeed includes a rapid DNA extraction method using low quantity of plant material and is based on an easy-to-use system to be performed in field. However, to be considered effective by the scientific community and usable for official analysis, it needed of a validation by screening a large scale of samples which are representative of the different conditions (e.g. kind of pathogen, plant species, plant matrices). LAMP was recently proposed for the monitoring activity of *X. fastidiosa* from plant material and insects (35, 33). LAMP could be used to confirm isolate identity from culture collections and for epidemiological studies and disease surveys as reported by Harper and colleagues (31).

Recently, some authors proposed using in plant pathology diagnosis the Droplet Digital polymerase chain reaction (ddPCR) (36). This ddPCR is a novel technique that quantify the nucleic acids target without the need of an external calibrator. This method is a robust approach for diagnosis of plant pathogens also with a low target concentration. Among the advantages of the ddPCR the authors reports the potential for the quantitative detection of *Xanthomonas citri* subsp. *citri* with high precision, accuracy and a lower coefficient of variation compared to the qPCR (37). Among phytopathogenic bacteria, besides *Xanthomonas citri* subsp. *citri* the ddPCR was recently proposed for the detection of *Xylella fastidiosa* (38).

4.2.1. Which target for molecular detection?

The choice of target gene to discriminate plant pathogen represented a crucial point for the development of plant disease diagnosis systems and for the detection of the emergent plant pathogens. The 16S rDNA gene (ribosomal DNA) is traditionally used to ascribe a bacterial strain to a genus (3). The rDNA is present in many copies in each cell and allowed a very sensitive detection, when used as target. The rDNA genes are universally applicable; include regions that are highly conserved such as the 16S and 23S genes and others that are highly variable such as the internal transcribed spacer (ITS) regions. In many cases, the rDNA discriminates between taxa and at the required level: genus, species or below (39,40). The target based on rDNA conserved region showed problems due to lack of specificity, whereas the ITS regions were used by several authors to design primer to improve the primers specificity (19) discriminating between related organisms.

A variety of targets can be used to design specific PCR assays according to the specificity (41, 42). For instance plasmid DNA (43), genes associated with hypersensitive response and pathogenicity (27, 44-46) or with the phytotoxin production (47, 48). The ability to distinguish between different strains

within a bacterial species is an important requisite for epidemiological surveillance and evolutionary studies. It is important to consider that very closely related strains can appear actually different on the basis of antigenic gene proteins, increasing the discriminatory power, (40), by contrast, the use of region with slow accumulation of variation (within house-keeping loci) would lead to a lack of discrimination between closely related strains. A correct evaluation of the genetic variability of a bacterial population is an important prerequisite for developing a diagnostic method. Frequently the genetic variability studies stated the basis for the identification of specific genome sequences that can be used as target for the diagnosis of a species (49, 50).

Multilocus sequence typing (MLST) is often used for a deep characterization of bacterial strains using several housekeeping genes. The 16S rDNA and the genes rpoB, groEL and ftsZ are employed for the microarray development enabling the differenv tiation of guarantine bacteria by 38 probes (18). The authors reported that for the direct identification in plant material, further improvement is needed to avoid cross-hybridisation among closely related pathovars (18). The housekeeping genes, highly conserved within the same genus made them a great target for barcoding (51, 52), for instance the *gyrB* employed for the Xanthomonads barcode and rpoD for the Erwinia barcode. MLST analysis are widely used for Xylella fastidiosa to define the subspecies of a new detected strain (53, 54).

The next-generation DNA sequencing projects provided the possibility to enlarge the availability of sequenced pathogen genomes and the molecular marker resources, making possible a significant improvement in the surveillance of emerging disease threats. Whole genome sequencing is helpful to find new targets for plant pathogens. Ash and colleague (55) developed a genomics-based LAMP (loop-mediated isothermal amplification PCR) assay for detection of *Pseudomonas fuscovaginae* from rice using its draft genome sequences. Its genome has been used to assess genomic diversity of *P. fuscovaginae* isolated from rice in South America, Asia, Australia, and Africa and to guide the development of a selective and sensitive LAMP detection assay.

4.3. Image spectroscopy techniques

The application of spectroscopic and imaging techniques in agriculture give the possibility of an automated non-destructive method of plant disease detection (56). Among these, fluorescence, multispectral or hyperspectral imaging, infrared spectroscopy, fluorescence spectroscopy, visible/multiband spectroscopy and nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) spectroscopy are methods used

for plant disease detection (12). In plant bacterial diseases, fluorescence spectroscopy has been adopted (56) to detect stress caused by citrus canker (caused by Xanthomonas citri - X. axonopodis pv. citri) and mechanical injury. The author discriminated between the mechanical and diseased stress. Lins and collegue (57) conducted field experiments to discriminate the abiotic citrus canker-stressed leaves from chlorosis-infected (caused by Xylella fastidiosa) and healthy leaves. In this technique, the chlorophyll fluorescence is measured on the leaves as a function of the incident light and the change in fluorescence parameters provided an indication of pathogen infections. Visible and infrared spectroscopy have been used as a rapid, non-destructive, and cost-effective method for the detection of plant diseases (12, 58, 59). Hyperspectral imaging is gaining *momentum* for its application in precision agriculture (60) and stress detection as also reported for different plant pathogens (61) by measuring the changes in reflectance resulting from the biophysical and biochemical characteristic changes upon infection.

4.4. Electronic nose and volatile organic compounds

A non-optical indirect method for plant disease detection is based on the profiling of the volatile chemical signature of infected plants. Infected plants could release specific volatile organic compounds (VOCs) that are highly indicative of the type of stress experienced by plants. Recently, some study (62) evaluated the volatile metabolic gas profile analysis to identify plant diseases. The common methods used for assessing the VOC profile are gas chromatography (GC)-based and electronic nose system-based techniques. Specific volatile biomarker may be used to detect plant diseases as reported for the bacterial soft rot, caused by Erwinia carotovora. Prithiviraj and collegue (63) assessed the volatiles released from onion bulbs infected with Erwinia carotovora to discriminate the infected once.

4.5. Point of care

Ideally, the diagnosis should be made at the point of care, so that treatment can start immediately and it is not depending on the availability of a laboratory or of highly trained staff. The point-of-care (POC) tests for plant diseases could be used to improve disease management in resource-limited settings. POC approach is gaining momentum for the ability to perform diagnostic procedures in a precise and rapid manner at the site where it is needed. These systems are easy to use and results are clear, providing quantitative data. The application of POC (64) on-site and mapping the results to define positions via the global positioning system (GPS), would enable the farmer to perform a precise and targeted application of

pesticides and thereby reduce and optimize the use of agrochemicals (64).

4.6. Biosensors

Environmental monitoring and medical diagnosis recently improved by the development of novel sensors. The analytes may be detected using sensors exploiting electrical, chemical, electrochemical, optical, magnetic or vibrational signals. The sensitivity and specificity could be improved respectively by the use of nanomaterial matrices as transducers (such as metal and metal oxide nanoparticles, quantum dots. carbon nanomaterials) and by the use of bio-recognition elements (such as DNA, antibody, enzymes etc.). Various types of nanostructures have been evaluated as platforms for the immobilization of a bio-recognition element to construct a biosensor. The immobilization can be achieved using various approaches including biomolecule adsorption, covalent attachment, encapsulation or a sophisticated combination of these methods (4). Fluorescent silica nanoparticles combined with antibody as a biomarker have been utilized for detecting Xanthomonas axonopodis pv. vesicatoria that causes bacterial spot in Solanaceae plant (65). Nano-chips made of microarrays, which contain fluorescent oligo probes are also reported for detecting single nucleotide change in bacteria and viruses with high sensitivity and specificity based on DNA hybridization (66).

5. SUMMARY AND PERSPECTIVE

Over recent years, several studies in plant pathogen detection allow developing innovative methods to achieve results within a shorter time and sometimes with higher performance than conventional microbiological assays. However, these new methods need to be validated to guarantee their performance at least as well as the corresponding reference methods. The prevention of diseases development and spread by early detection is a valuable strategy for proper pest management and disease control. Plant disease detection, should be provided rapidly, accurately and reliably at early stages, by exploiting novel sensor systems in open field. The spread of disease can be avoided by early diagnosis of infected plants. Asymptomatic plants can be a reservoir of the pathogen and the development of diagnostic methods with improved sensitivity, specificity is helpful for the identification of plant pathogens, even in the absence of disease symptoms or evident signs of the causal agent.

The current breakthrough for the disease diagnosis is found in the spectroscopic, imaging techniques and the volatile organic metabolites as biomarkers, however the technology is constantly evolving and we can expect new inputs in the field of

diagnostics. The new techniques need to be as much as possible non-invasive and applicable at the point of interest. The interest of the farmers is in solving the problems caused by plant disease, identifying the pests' infection in rapid, real-time, non-destructive methods allowing the application of timely intervention and preventive treatments for the containment of infections and the reduction of crop losses. These strategies can also permit the reduction of massive application of chemicals, localize the sprayings and perform the applications timely to reduce the costs and the deleterious side effects of the control management.

6. REFERENCES

- RN Strange, PR Scott: Plant disease: a threat to global food security. Ann Rev Phytopathol 43, 83–116 (2005) DOI:10.1146/annurev.phyto.43.113004.133839 PMid:16078878
- S Savary, A Ficke, JN Aubertot, C Hollie: Crop losses due to diseases and their implications for global food production losses and food security. Food Security, Springer (2012)
- 3. E Ward, SJ Foster, BA Fraaije, HA Mccartney: Plant pathogen diagnostics: immunological and nucleic acid-based approaches. *Ann Appl Biol* 145, 1-16 (2004) DOI: 10.1111/j.1744-7348.2004.tb00354.x
- Y Fang, RP Ramasamy: Current and Prospective Methods for Plant Disease Detection. *Biosensors* 4, 537-561 (2015) DOI: 10.3390/bios5030537 PMid:26287253 PMCid:PMC4600171
- J Mansfield, S Genin, S Magori, V Citovsky, M Sriariyanum, P Ronald, M Dow, V Verdier, SV Beer, MA Machado, I Toth, G Salmond, GD: Foster Top 10 plant pathogenic bacteria in molecular plant pathology. Mol Plant Pathol13, 614-29 (2012)
- 6. IM Smith: Glossary of phytosanitary terms: ISPM 5 Explanatory document. International *Plant Protection Convention* (IPPC) (2013)
- 7. GN Agrios Plant pathology: the Science. In Plant Pathology, Chap 1 Introduction. Elsevier-Academic Press. San Diego, CA. (2005)
- 8. V Ilardi, S Loreti: Plant biosecurity: Diagnosis in plant pathology. *Biosafety* 3: e143. DOI:10.4.172/2167-0331.1.000e143
- 9. B Lombard, A Leclercq: Validation of innovative food microbiological methods

- according to the EN ISO 16140 Standard. Food Anal. Methods 4, 163-172 (2010)
- Lazcka, FJ Del Campo, FX Munoz: Pathogen detection: a perspective of traditional methods and *Biosensors*. *Biosensors* and Bioelectronics 22, 1205–1217 (2007) DOI: 10.1016/j.bios.2006.06.036 PMid:16934970
- 11. V Rossi, T Candresse, MJ Jeger, C Manceau, G Urek, G Stancanelli: Diagnosis of plant pathogens and implications for plant quarantine: a risk assessment perspective. In Detection and Diagnostics of Plant Pathogens, Plant Pathology Eds: ML Gullino, PJM Bonants, Springer Dordrecht, Germany (2014)
- S Sankarana, A Mishraa, R Ehsania, C Davis: A review of advanced techniques for detecting plant diseases. Computers and Electronics in Agriculture 72, 1–13 (2010) DOI: 10.1016/j.compag.2010.02.007
- AM Alvarez: Integrated approaches for detection of plant pathogenic bacteria and diagnosis of bacterial diseases. *Ann Rev Phytopathol* 42, 339–66 (2004) DOI: 10.1146/annurev.phyto.42.040803.140329 PMid:15283670
- P Houpikian, D Raoult: Traditional and molecular techniques for the study of emerging bacterial diseases: one laboratory's perspective. *Emerging Infectious Diseases* 8, 122-131(2002) DOI: 10.3201/eid0802.010141 PMid:11897062 PMCid:PMC3369584
- 15. T Kitagawa, Y Sakamoto, K Furumi, H Ogura: Novel enzyme immunoassays for specific detection of Fusarium oxysporum f. cucumerinum and for general detection of various Fusarium species. *Phytopathol* 79, 162-165 (1989) DOI: 10.1094/Phyto-79-162
- NF Lyons, JG White: Detection of Pythium violae and Pythium sulcatum in carrots with cavity spot using competition ELISA. *Ann App Biology* 120, 235-244 (1992)
 DOI: 10.1111/j.1744-7348.1992.tb03421.x
- C Pelludat, B Duffy, JE Frey: Design and development of a DNA microarray for rapid detection and identification of multiple European quarantine phytopathogenic bacteria. Eur J Plant Pathol 125, 413-423 (2009) DOI: 10.1007/s10658-009-9490-7

- 18. JM Van der Wolf, CD Schoen: Bacterial pathogens: detection and identification methods. In Encyclopedia of plant and crop science. Eds RM Goodman, New York, USA: Marcel Dekker, 1-5 (2004)
- 19. A Palacio-Bielsa, MA Cambra, MM Lopez: PCR detection and identification of plantpathogenic bacteria: updated review of protocols. J Plant Pathol 91, 249-297 (2009)
- 20. M Zaccardelli, M Scortichini, F Campanile, L Sigillo, S Loreti: Metodi avanzati di diagnosi fitobatteriologica. Protezione delle colture 1. 5-14 (2010)
- 21. S Ito, Y Ushijima, T Fujii, S Tanaka, M Camella-Iwaki, S Yoshiwara, F Kishi: Detection of viable cells of Ralstonia solanacearum in soil using a semiselective medium and PCR technique. J Phytopathol 146, 379-384 (1998) DOI: 10.1111/j.1439-0434.1998.tb04769.x
- 22. L Bentsink, GOM Leone, JCRM Van Beckhoven, HB van Schiindel, B Van Gemen. JM Van der Wolf: Amplification of RNA by NASBA allows direct detection of viable cells of Ralstonia solanacearum in potato. J App Microbiol 93, 647-655 (2002) DOI: 10.1046/j.1365-2672.2002.01725.x
- 23. JRCM Van Beckhoven, DE Stead, JM Van der Wolf: Detection of Clavibacter michiganensis subsp. sepedonicus by AmpliDet RNA, a new technology based on real time monitoring of NASBA amplicons with a molecular beacon. J App Microbiol 93, 840-849 (2002)
- 24. P Llop, A Bonaterra, J Penalver, MM Lopez: Development of highly sensitive nested-PCR procedure using a single closed tube for detection of Erwinia amylovora in asymptomatic plant material. App Env Microbiol 66, 2071-2078 DOI: 10.1046/j.1365-2672.2002.01765.x
- 25. E Biondi, A Galeone, N Kuzmanović, S Ardizzi, C Lucchese, A Bertaccini: Pseudomonas syringae pv. actinidiae detection in kiwifruit plant tissue and bleeding sap. Ann App Biology 162, 60-70 (2013)
- 26. O Henegariu, NA Heerema, SR Dlouhy, GH Vance, PH Vogt: Multiplex PCR: Critical parameters and step-bystep protocol. Biotechniques 23, 504-511 (1997)
- 27. A Gallelli, A L'Aurora, S Loreti: Gene sequence analysis for the molecular detection of Pseudomonas syringae pv.

- actinidiae: developing diagnostic protocols. J Plant Pathol 93, 425-435 (2011)
- 28. GM Balestra, MC Taratufolo, BA Vinatzer, A Mazzaglia: A multiplex PCR assay for detection of Pseudomonas syringae pv. actinidiae and differentiation of population with different geographic origin. Plant Dis 97. 472-478 (2013)

DOI: 10.1094/PDIS-06-12-0590-RE

- 29. KJ Livak, SJA Flood, J Marmero, W Giusti, K Deetz: Oligonucleotides with fluorescent dyes at opposite ends provide a quenched probe system useful for detecting PCR products and nucleic acid hybridization. PCR Methods and Applications 4, 357-362 (1995) DOI: 10.1101/gr.4.6.357 PMid:7580930
- 30. JT Tambong, KN Mwange, M Bergeron, T Ding, F Mandy, LM Reid, X Zhu: Rapid detection and identification of the bacterium Pantoea stewartii in maize by TagMan realtime PCR assay targeting the cpsD gene. J App Microbiol 104, 1525-1537 (2008) DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2672.2007.03674.x PMid:18179542
- 31. SJ Harper, LI Ward, GRG Clover: Development of LAMP and real-time PCR methods for the rapid detection of Xylella fastidiosa for quarantine and field applications. *Phytopathol* 100, 1282–1288 (2010) DOI: 10.1094/PHYTO-06-10-0168 PMid:20731533
- 32. A Gallelli, S Talocci, M Pilotti, S Loreti: Real-time and qualitative PCR for detecting Pseudomonas syringae pv. actinidiae isolates causing recent outbreaks of kiwifruit bacterial canker. Plant Pathol 63, 264-272 (2014) DOI: 10.1111/ppa.12082
- 33. V Modesti, N Pucci, S Lucchesi, L Campus, S Loreti: Experience of the Latium region (Central Italy) as a pest-free area for monitoring of Xylella fastidiosa: distinctive features of molecular diagnostic methods. Eur J Plant Pathol 148, 557-566 (2017) DOI: 10.1007/s10658-016-1111-7
- 34. AL Strayer, A Jeyaprakash, GV Minsavage, S Timilsina, GE Vallad, JB Jones, ML Paret: A multiplex Real-Time PCR assay differentiates four Xanthomonas species associated with bacterial spot of tomato. Plant Dis 8, 1660-1668 (2016) DOI: 10.1094/PDIS-09-15-1085-RE

- 35. T Yaseen, S Drago, F Valentini, T Elbeaino, G. Stampone, M. Digiaro, AM D'Onghia: On-site detection of Xylella fastidiosa in host plants and in "spy insects" using the real-time loop-mediated isothermal amplification method. *Phytopathol Mediterr* 54, 488–496 (2015)
- 36. I Gutiérrez-Aguirre, N Rački, T Dreo, M Ravnikar: Droplet Digital PCR for absolute quantification of pathogens. *Methods Mol Biol* 1302, 331-347 (2015)
 DOI: 10.1007/978-1-4939-2620-6_24
 PMid:25981265
- Y Zhao, Q Xia, Y Yin, Z Wang: Comparison of Droplet Digital PCR and Quantitative PCR Assays for Quantitative Detection of Xanthomonas citri subsp. citri. PLoS ONE 11, e0159004 (2016)
- 38. T Dreo, M Pirc, Ž Ramšak, J Pavšič, M Milavec, J Zel, K Gruden: Optimizing droplet digital PCR analysis approaches for detection and quantification of bacteria: a case study of fire blight and potato brown rot. *Annal Bioanal Chem* 406, 6513–6528 (2014) DOI: 10.1007/s00216-014-8084-1 PMid:25173868
- 39. E Ward, MJ Adams: Analysis of ribosomal DNA sequences of Polymyxa species and related fungi and the development of genus- and species-specific PCR primers. *Mycological Res* 102, 965-974 (1998) DOI: 10.1017/S0953756297005881
- JE Copper, EJ Feil: Multilocus sequence typing – what is resolved. *Trend in Microbiol* 12, 373-377 (2004)
 DOI: 10.1016/j.tim.2004.06.003
 PMid:15276613
- 41. W Zhang, BM Jayarao, SJ Knabel: Multivirulence-locus sequence typing of Listeria monocytogenes. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 70, 913–920 (2004) DOI: 10.1128/AEM.70.2.913-920.2004

DOI: 10.1128/AEM.70.2.913-920.2004 PMid:14766571 PMCid:PMC348834

- 42. FJ Louws, JLW Rademaker, FJ De Bruijn:. The three D's of PCR-based genomic analysis of phytobacteria: diversity, detection, and disease diagnosis. *Ann Rev Phytopathol* 37, 81–125 (1999)
 DOI: 10.1146/annurev.phyto.37.1.81
 PMid:11701818
- 43. P Audy, A Laroche, G Saindon, HC Huang, RL Gilbertson: Detection of the bean common blight bacteria Xanthomonas campestris

- pv. phaseoli and X. c. phaseoli var. fuscans using the polymerase chain reaction. *Molec Plant Pathol* 84, 1185-1192 (1994)
- 44. S Loreti, A Gallelli: Rapid and specific detection of virulent Pseudomonas avellanae strains by PCR amplification. *Eur J Plant Pathol* 108, 237-244 (2002) DOI: 10.1023/A:1015170625547
- 45. M Zaccardelli, A Spasiano, C Bazzi, M Merighi: Identification and in planta detection of Pseudomonas syringae pv. tomato using PCR amplification of hrpZPst. Eur J Plant Pathol 111, 85-90 (2005) DOI: 10.1007/s10658-004-2734-7
- 46. M Zaccardelli, F Campanile, A Spasiano, M Merighi: Detection and identification of the crucifer pathogen, Xanthomonas campestris pv. campestris, by PCR amplification of the conserved Hrp/type III secretion system gene hrcC. European J of Plant Pathol 118: 299-306 (2007)
- 47. D Prosen, E Hatziloukas, NW Schaad, NJ Panapoulos: Specific detection of Pseudomonas syringae pv. phaseolicola DNA in bean seed by polymerase chain reaction-based amplification of a phaseolotoxin gene. *Phytopathol* 83, 965-970 (1993) DOI: 10.1094/Phyto-83-965
- 48. KN Sorensen, KH Kim, JY Takemoto: PCR detection of cyclic lipodepsinonapeptide-producing Pseudomonas syringae pv. syringae and similarity of strains. *App Env Microbiol* 64, 226-230 (1998)
- 49. S Loreti, D De Simone, A Gallelli: Detection and identification of Brenneria nigrifluens, the causal agent of the shallow bark canker of walnut, by PCR amplification. *J Phytopathol* 156, 464–469. (2008)
- S Loreti, A Gallelli, A Belisario, E Wajnberg, L Corazza: Investigation of genomic variability of Xanthomonas arboricola pv. juglandis by AFLP analysis. *Eur J Plant Pathol* 6, 583-591 (2001)
 DOI: 10.1023/A:1017951406237
- N Parkinson, C Cowie, J Heeney, D Stead: Phylogenetic structure of Xanthomonas determined by comparison of gyrase B sequences. Int. J. Syst. Evol. Microbiol 59, 264-274 (2009)
- 52. N Parkinson, DE Stead, J Bew, J Heeney, JG Elphinstone: Dickeya species relatedness

and clade structure determined by comparison of recA sequences. *Int J Syst Evol Microbiol* 59, 2388–2393 (2009)

DOI: 10.1099/ijs.0.009258-0 DOI: 10.1099/ijs.0.65825-0

- 53. Bulletin OEPP/EPPO *Bulletin* 46, 463–500 (2016)
- 54. X Yuan, L Morano, R Bromley, S Spring-Pearson, R Stouthamer, L Nunney: Multi locus sequence typing of Xylella fastidiosa causing Pierce's disease and oleander leaf scorch in the United States. *Phytopathol* 100, 601-611 (2010)
 DOI: 10.1094/PHYTO-100-6-0601
 PMid:20465416
- 55. GJ Ash, JM Lang, LR Triplett, BJ Stodart, V Verdier, CV Cruz, P Rott, JE Leach: Development of a genomics-based LAMP (loop-mediated isothermal amplification) assay for detection of Pseudomonas fuscovaginae from rice. *Plant Dis* 98, 909–915 (2014) DOI: 10.1094/PDIS-09-13-0957-RE
- L Belasque, MCG Gasparoto, LG Marcassa: Detection of mechanical and disease stresses in citrus plants by fluorescence spectroscopy. *App Optics* 47, 1922–1926 (2008) DOI: 10.1364/AO.47.001922
- 57. EC Lins, J Belasque Junior, LG Marcassa: Detection of citrus canker in citrus plants using laser induced fluorescence spectroscopy. *Prec Agricul* 10, 319–330 (2009) DOI: 10.1007/s11119-009-9124-2
- 58. H Ramon, J Anthonis, E Vrindts, R Delen, J Reumers, D Moshou, K Deprez, J De Baerdemaeker, F Feyaerts, L Van Gool, R. De Winne, R Van den Bulcke: Development of a weed activated spraying machine for targeted application of herbicides. *Asp App Biol* 66, 147–164 (2002)
- 59. J Sundaram, CV Kandala, CL Butts: Application of near infrared (NIR) spectroscopy to peanut grading and quality analysis: overview. Sens Instr Food Qual Safety 3, 156–164 (2009)
 DOI: 10.1007/s11694-009-9081-5
- H Okamoto, Y Suzuki, T Kataoka, K Sakai: Unified hyperspectral imaging methodology for agricultural sensing using software framework. *Acta Hor* 824, 49–56 (2009) DOI: 10.17660/ActaHortic.2009.824.5

- 61. A Iori, V Scala, D Cesare, F Pinzari, MG D'Egidio, C Fanelli, AA Fabbri, M Reverberi, S Serranti: Hyperspectral and molecular analysis of Stagonospora nodorum blotch disease in durum wheat. Eur J Plant Pathol 141, 689-702 (2014) DOI: 10.1007/s10658-014-0571-x
- 62. J Laothawornkitkul, JP Moore, JE Taylor, M Possell, TD Gibson, CN Hewitt, ND Paul: Discrimination of plant volatile signatures by an electronic nose: a potential technology for plant pest and disease monitoring. *Env Sci Technol* 42, 8433–8439 (2008) DOI: 10.1021/es801738s
- 63. B Prithiviraj, A Vikram, AC Kushalappa, V Yaylayam,. Volatile metabolite profiling for the discrimination of onion bulbs infected by Erwinia carotovora spp. carotovora, Fusarium oxysporum and Botrytis allii. *Eur J Plant Physiol* 110, 371–377 (2004)
- 64. S Heard JS West: New development in identification and quantification of air born inoculum. In: Detection and Diagnostics of Plant Pathogens, Plant Pathology Eds: ML Gullino, PJM Bonants, Springer Dordrecht, Germany (2014)
- 65. KS Yao, SJ Li, KC Tzeng, TC Cheng, CY Chang, CY Chiu, CY Liao, JJ Hsu, ZP Lin: Fluorescence silica nanoprobe as a biomarker for rapid detection of plant pathogens. Adv Mater Res 79, 513–516 (2009)
 DOI: 10.4028/www.scientific.net/AMR.79-82.513
- 66. MM López, P Llop, A Olmos, E Marco-Noales, M Cambra, E Bertolini: Are molecular tools solving the challenges posed by detection of plant pathogenic bacteria and viruses? *Curr Issues Mol Biol* 11, 13–46 (2009)
- **Abbreviations**: European and Mediterranean Protection Organization (EPPO): International Plant Protection Convention (IPPC); International Organization for Standardization (ISO); National Plant Protection Organizations (NPPO); Nuclear Magnetic Resonance (NMR); LAMP Loop-mediated isothermal Amplification PCR; Volatile Organic Compounds (VOCs); Nucleic Acid Sequence Based Amplification (NASBA): International Standards Phytosanitary Measures (ISPM); Hypersensitivity Response (HR); ImmunoFluorescence (IF); Enzyme-Linked Immunosorbent Assay (ELISA); Fluorescent in situ hybridization (FISH): Droplet Digital polymerase chain reaction (ddPCR); Internal Transcribed Spacer (ITS); MultiLocus

© 1996-2018

459

Plant bacteria detection

Sequence Typing (MLST); POC (point-of-care); Global Positioning System (GPS)

Key Words: Plant Pests, Plant Protection, Diagnostics, Bacteria Detection And Identification, Review

Send correspondence to: Stefania Loreti, CREA-DC, Consiglio per la Ricerca in Agricoltura e l'Analisi dell'Economia Agraria, Centro di Ricerca Difesa e Certificazione, Via C.G, Bertero, 22, 00156 Rome, Italy, Tel: 3906820701, Fax:0686802296, E-mail: stefania.loreti@crea.gov.it